RECEIVED

Dec 23 2025

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
Ninth Judicial Circuit

Honorable Mikell R. Scarborough
Master-in-Equity

Appellate Case No. 2025-001052

Stephen C. Wells and Randi P. Wells. Respondents.

v.

Spartina Bay Plantation Property Owners' Association, Inc. Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Steven R. Kropski
Maxwell J. Seferian
Andrew S. Platte
Earhart Overstreet, LLC
P.O. Box 22528
Charleston, SC 29413
(843) 972-9400
Attorneys for Appellant

Statement of Issues on Appeal

1. Whether the trial court erred in finding a former property owners' association's president had authority to bind the entire property owners' association to an easement agreement that decreased its members' rights and increased the members' financial obligations despite no vote approving the action.

2. Whether the trial court erred in finding a property owners' association's membership ratified its former's president's execution of an easement agreement that did not comply with the bylaws and was not approved by a vote.

3. Whether the trial court erred in modifying and terminating a property owners' association's legal right to access and use of a declared community dock through rewriting of the documents establishing the creation and use of the community dock.

Statement of the Case

This action arises out of a neighborhood dispute in which Plaintiffs Stephen and Randi Wells ("Respondents" or "the Wells") sought to limit the rights of their fellow members of Defendant Spartina Bay Plantation Property Owners' Association, Inc. ("Appellant" or "the POA") to access the community dock located behind their house. At issue is the trial court's finding that Appellant is bound by the terms of a purported easement agreement signed by its former president with no POA authority. The former president's unauthorized act resulted in the severe limitation of members' rights to use an ingress/egress pathway to access the community dock and, going even further, the trial Court's grant of summary judgment ultimately deprives the members of a legal right to use the community dock, thus, creating an easement to nowhere that was never approved by a vote of the POA.

Factual Background

Spartina Bay Plantation is located on Edisto Island and consists of a private road, Marsh Bluff Court, which runs from its entrance at Peters Point Road to Store Creek. (R. pp. 328-338). The subdivision was developed by N.C. “Cookie” Boykin in the early 2000s. (R. pp. 328-338). At the end of Marsh Bluff Court is the community dock, located on what is now Respondents’ property (known in the community and herein as “Lot B”). The POA’s declaration of covenants, conditions and restrictions (“CCRs”) require that the POA “shall own or lease the dock...as well as the strip of land designated as Dock Easement.” (R. pp. 333). The CCRs grant the right to use the dock to Class A members, who are the owners of certain inland properties in the POA that do not have independent access to Store Creek on their properties. Pursuant to the CCRs’ First Amendment dated March 17, 2005 and recorded in Book R 530, Page 876 with the Charleston County Register of Deed, the eight boat slips on the community dock are assigned to the Class A members of the POA. (R. pp. 370-376).

Prior to the trial court’s order dated April 16, 2025, the POA’s access rights to the community dock and the ingress/egress area were controlled by a 2001 Lease Agreement (“the Lease”) entered into by the POA and by N.C. Boykin as Substitute Trustee for Peters Point Trust (the predecessor in interest to Lot B). (R. pp. 378-385). The Lease covered both the ingress/egress area, as well as the community dock itself. Because no record of a bill of sale to the community dock exists, the Lease is the only governing document which gives the POA the right to use (as opposed to mere ingress/egress access) the community dock. The Lease has a 99-year term and expires on September 30th, 2100. (R. p. 378).

The operative plat at the time the POA entered into the Lease, recorded on November 30th, 2001 in Plat Book DD, Page 27 with the Charleston County Register of Deeds, expressly identifies that the ingress/egress Area as a “Dock Ingress/Egress Easement,” thereby also establishing an existing easement in addition to the Lease. (R. p. 401). The Lease makes clear that it is binding on successors

of both parties (Section 10(b)) and also provides that “[i]f the Tenant votes to abandon the dock as provided in the Restrictive Covenants, then this lease shall become null and void.” (R. pp. 378-385).

At the POA’s March 28, 2009 Annual Meeting, the Board, led by then-POA president Bruce Matrisciani (“Matrisciani”) expressed concern over the then-owner of Lot B being indicted by the United States Government and an IRS lien being placed on the property. (R. p. 403). Out of concern that subsequent purchasers would not recognize the Lease, the POA expressed an interest in securing a deed to the dock and ingress/egress Area. (R. p. 403). At the October 17, 2009 meeting, the Board agreed that Matrisciani would work with the law firm Barr, Unger & McIntosh to, in relevant part, “attain either a dock easement deed or a lease in perpetuity. (R. p. 463). Subsequently, attorney H. Wayne Unger, Jr. with the Barr, Unger & McIntosh firm wrote to Matrisciani regarding the easement situation and suggested that “it would be good idea to have a Special Meeting (get Proxies where possible) to confirm this action.” (R. p. 461). Ultimately, Matrisciani’s supposed concerns about a subsequent purchaser not being bound by the Lease proved unfounded, as the Federal Government later took title of Lot B subject to all valid restrictive covenants and leases and sold it to James S. Cox and Catherine T. Cox (“the Coxes”) in March, 2010.¹²

Even after the Federal Government sold Lot B to the Coxes subject to the Lease, Matrisciani remained intent on altering the already existing rights of use and access to the community dock, based upon his individual personal desire to ensure that the next generations of his family would be able to use the community dock, despite an already existing easement identified on the plat. (R. pp. 401, 413, Ins. 5-15). At the POA’s November 6, 2010 meeting, the Board expressed dissatisfaction with Barr,

² See the Honorable Margaret B. Seymour’s Amended Final Order of Forfeiture as to Real Property Located at 1499 Marsh Bluff Court Edisto Island, SC filed in C/A 3:07-cr-00929-MBS, Criminal No. 3:07-929.

Unger, & McIntosh and voted to “contact the Jensen Law Firm to get resolution to the perpetual lease issue and to get an estimate of cost[s] to update the Restrictive Covenants if changes were needed to dock assignments or dock privilege language.” (R. pp. 465-66). The POA did not have another meeting for nearly a year and a half following the November 6, 2010 meeting. (R. pp. 468-69).

In the intervening time, and without any action by the Board or the POA members, Matrisciani continued to unilaterally seek and negotiate the Easement Agreement with the Coxes. He then hired a completely different attorney, Karen DeJong, despite the Board’s directive to work with the Jensen Law Firm. During the negotiations, on November 9, 2011, Appellant’s then-secretary, Ron Farrell, warned Matrisciani against agreeing to the POA paying twenty-five percent of the Coxes property tax bill, and suggested that “we also may want to discuss this with [the] POA members.” (R. p. 457). No meeting minutes reflect any debate or discussion on whether the POA should take on the substantial tax burden of paying twenty-five percent of Lot B’s property taxes.³

These negotiations culminated in Matrisciani signing a purported easement with the Coxes on January 25th, 2012 (“the Easement Agreement”), absent any authority to do so from the Board, which had not held a meeting since 2010. (R. pp. 387-394). The Easement Agreement purported to impose more substantial limitations on Class A members’ access rights: specifically, the Easement Agreement provided for *pedestrian* ingress and egress only, a term that was not present in the Lease and was never contemplated by the Board or membership before Matrisciani signed the Easement Agreement. (R. p.

³ While the Lease contains a similar requirement, it was executed before any improvements were built on Lot B. (R. p. 379). For this reason, the Lease contemplates that “[i]f the Landlord or its successors or assigns construct improvements on the larger parcel the percentages shall be adjusted based upon values of the property.” (R. p. 379). For instance, if improvements unrelated to dock ingress/egress access are made, the property taxes would substantially increase. Moreover, if a house was erected on Lot B that was not the owner’s permanent resident, the millage rate of Lot B would be substantially higher, despite granting no benefit to the ingress/egress area. No evidence exists of any negotiations taking place on this issue once the house was built on Lot B.

388). The Easement Agreement also purported to bind the POA to paying 25% of Lot B's property taxes, which the POA's secretary had specifically cautioned Matrisciani against. (R. pp. 455, 457). The Coxes then sold Lot B shortly after signing the Easement Agreement, and POA members continued to drive vehicles down to the community dock as they always had.

Respondents later purchased their home in Spartina Bay just prior to the Covid shutdown, when activity on the community dock was minimal. (R. p. 422, lns. 7-22). Despite the relative quiet in Spartina Bay during the Pandemic, Respondents began feuding with another property owner shortly after moving in.

As part of their campaign against the other property owner and the POA Board, Respondents also filed a complaint with DHEC regarding that property owner's alleged use of the dock. (R. pp. 424, ln. 19-p. 421, ln. 4). As part of DHEC's investigation into Respondents' allegations, it determined that a portion of the POA's community *deck* (not the dock), a wooden platform which was located by the entrance to the community dock walkway and regularly used by members accessing the community dock, extended into a protected wetland area and must be removed. (R. pp. 446-47).

The current POA president, Lawrence "Eddie" Evans, II, tried to reason with Respondents and expressed the Board's intention to discuss the matter first, including the potential option of only removing the small portion of the community deck that extended over the wetland to Respondents. (R. p. 449). However, Mr. Wells refused to even discuss how to handle the DHEC determination, and instead unilaterally removed the *entire* community deck, claiming without evidence that the community deck was rotten and unsalvageable. (R. p. 427, ln. 3-p. 428, ln.2; R. pp. 449, 451). Because Respondents tore down the community deck without authorization from the POA, the Board imposed an individual assessment of \$2,500.00 against them, which the trial court found necessitated a damages hearing. (R. pp. 35-37, 453). The POA's architectural review board also denied the Respondents'

request to build a fence along the ingress/easement area to restrict access to the community dock via the neighboring lot.⁴

Procedural History

Respondents filed this case on October 26, 2022, bringing three causes of action: (1) a declaratory judgment that the Easement Agreement is valid and binding on Appellant; (2) breach of the Easement Agreement and breach of the covenant of good faith and fair dealing; and (3) a temporary, preliminary, and permanent injunction enjoining Appellant from exercising their rights under the Lease. (R. pp. 42-67).

On December 30, 2022, Appellant timely answered Respondents' complaint and filed a counterclaim, seeking a declaratory judgment from the trial court enforcing the CCRs and clarifying the Parties' rights under the Lease and the Easement Agreement and specifically, a determination that (1) the Lease remains valid and enforceable until September 30, 2100, and (2) that the Easement Agreement is an invalid instrument which cannot bind the POA. (R. pp. 149-55). On January 30, 2023, Respondents replied to Appellant's counterclaim, denying Appellant's entitlement to the relief sought. (R. pp. 156-57).

On May 12, 2023, the Honorable Roger M. Young, Sr. signed a consent order of reference referring the case to the Charleston County Master-in-Equity. (R. pp. 1-3). On November 21, 2024, the parties each filed motions for summary judgment pursuant to Rule 56(c), SCRPC. (R. pp. 304-480). The motions were heard before the Honorable Mikell R. Scarborough on February 10, 2025. (R. pp. 688-748). On April 16, 2025, Judge Scarborough issued a 29-page order granting Respondents' motion for summary judgment in full and dismissing Appellant's counterclaim with prejudice. (R. pp. 10- 38).

⁴ Respondents' counsel advised the trial court at the February 10, 2025 summary judgment hearing that Respondents were withdrawing their claims regarding their request to build a fence along the ingress/egress pathway to the dock.

Appellant then filed a motion to alter or amend the judgment pursuant to Rule 59(e), SCRCP on April 28, 2025, arguing that the trial court misapprehended or misapplied the factual record and governing law, and likewise improperly and permanently denied Appellant of its members' legal right to use the community dock, thus making the purported Easement Agreement illusory. (R. p. 674-87). On May 1, 2025, Judge Scarborough issued an order restating his original decision and denying Appellant's motion to alter or amend the judgment. (R. p. 39-41).

This appeal followed, with Appellant's Notice of Appeal being served on May 27, 2025. (R. pp. 754-55).

Standard of Review

"An appellate court reviews the granting of summary judgment under the same standard applied by the [circuit] court." *Skywaves I Corp. v. Branch Banking & Trust Co.*, 423 S.C. 432, 453, 814 S.E.2d 643, 654 (Ct. App. 2018) (quoting *Wells v. City of Lynchburg*, 331 S.C. 296, 301, 501 S.E.2d 746, 749 (Ct. App. 1998) (alteration in original)). Rule 56, SCRCP only allows a court to grant a motion for summary judgment where there is no genuine issue of material fact. *See* Rule 56(c), SCRCP. When a court is "determining whether any triable fact exist[s], the evidence and all reasonable inferences must be viewed in the light most favorable to the non-moving party." *Kitchen Planners, LLC v. Friedman*, 440 S.C. 456, 462, 892 S.E.2d 297, 301 (2023) (quoting *Callawasia Island Members Club, Inc. v. Martin*, 437 S.C. 148, 157, 877 S.E.2d 341, 345 (2022)). Moreover, summary judgment is inappropriate when "the evidence is susceptible to more than one reasonable inference[.]" *Id.* at 461, 892 S.E.2d at 300 (quoting *Vaughan v. Town of Lyman*, 370 S.C. 436, 448, 635 S.E.2d 631, 638 (2006)).

Argument

1. The trial court inverted the summary judgment standard by resolving reasonable inferences in favor of Respondents, finding no genuine issue of fact exists as to the Easement Agreement's validity or the former president's authority to bind the POA to the Easement Agreement despite no vote or authority to do so.

The trial court erred in finding no genuine issue of fact existed as to the Easement Agreement's validity despite no evidence of a vote authorizing Matrisciani to unilaterally execute the Easement Agreement, nor any record of a vote ratifying the Easement Agreement after the fact. As demonstrated, herein, the trial court failed to view the evidence and all reasonable inferences in a light most favorable to Appellant, in violation of Rule 56(c), SCRPC.

a. A genuine issue of fact exists as to whether Matrisciani had the authority to unilaterally bind the POA to the Easement Agreement without a vote of the Board or membership.

Under South Carolina law, an agent's authority to bind a principal "is composed of his or her actual authority, whether express or implied, together with the apparent authority which the principal by his or her conduct is precluded from denying." *Roberson v. Southern Fin. of S.C., Inc.*, 365 S.C. 6, 10, 615 S.E.2d 112, 115 (2005). Actual authority cannot be implied; rather, it "is expressly conferred upon the agent by the principal." *Id.* at 11, 615 S.E.2d at 115.

i. The POA's Bylaws did not provide authority to Matrisciani to unilaterally sign the Easement Agreement.

Here, the POA's Bylaws articulate the narrow circumstances under which a POA president can be conferred with actual authority to enter into contracts, such as an easement agreement, on the POA's behalf. *See Orphan Aid Soc. v. Jenkins*, 294 S.C. 106, 110, 362 S.E.2d 885, 887 (Ct. App. 1987) (quoting *Brand v. Lowther*, 168 W. Va. 726, 735, 285 S.E. (2d) 474, 481 (1981)) ("[t]here is **no inherent authority in the president of a corporation** to execute contracts on its behalf, **especially where the contract is unusual or relates to transactions not constituting the usual business of the corporation**") (emphasis added).⁵ Article VII, Section 5 of the Bylaws provides:

⁵ Moreover, there is no genuine issue of material fact that signing a pedestrian easement agreement limiting Class A members' access rights to the community dock does not constitute the "usual business of the corporation."

President. The president shall be the principal executive officer of the Association and, **subject to the control of the directors**, shall in general supervise and control all of the business and affairs of the Association. He shall, when present, preside at all meetings of the Members and of the directors. He may sign, **with the secretary or, any other proper officer of the Association thereunto authorized by the directors**, certificates for membership of the Association, any deeds, mortgages, bonds, **contracts, or other instruments which the directors have authorized to be executed**, except in cases where the signing and execution thereof shall be expressly delegated by the directors or by these by-laws to some other officer or agent of the Association, or shall be required by law to be otherwise signed or executed; and in general shall perform all duties incident to the office of president and such other duties as may be prescribed by the directors from time to time.

(R. p. 362) (emphasis added).

This provision makes clear that the POA president can only sign contracts or other instruments on behalf of the POA (1) with the secretary or another proper officer authorized by the directors; and (2) so long as the directors authorized the contract or instrument to be executed. Matrisciani failed to satisfy either condition here.

In finding that the Board authorized Matrisciani to sign the Easement Agreement, the trial court disregarded these clear restraints on the president's authority to sign contracts, instead relying on Article X, Section 1 of the Bylaws, which provides:

Contracts. The directors may authorize any officer or officers, agents or agents, to enter into any contract or execute and deliver any instrument in the name of and on behalf of the Association, and such authority may be general or confined to specific instances.

(R. p. 366). The record before the trial court is void of evidence (including but not limited to meeting minutes, executed proxies or written consents) demonstrating that the POA Board of Directors authorized Matrisciani to sign the Easement Agreement.

As an initial matter, it is undisputed that the POA’s secretary did not sign the Easement Agreement in question.⁶ Nonetheless, without explanation or any legal authority, the trial court interpreted Article X, Section 1 as a waiver of Matrisciani’s responsibility to comply with his obligations under Article VII, Section 5 to secure the secretary’s signature when signing a contract. In other words, the trial court’s interpretation rendered the requirement that the secretary sign a contract alongside the president meaningless, despite its unambiguous inclusion in the Bylaws. *See Stevens Aviation, Inc. v. DynCorp Int’l LLC*, 407 S.C. 407, 416-17, 756 S.E.2d 148, 153 (2014) (citing *Crown Laundry & Dry Cleaners v. U.S.*, 29 Fed. Cl. 506, 515 (1993)) (explaining that contractual interpretations which “render[] provisions of a contract meaningless or superfluous” are disfavored). No evidence in the Record demonstrates that the Board waived the secretary-signature requirement set forth in Article VII, Section 5 of the Bylaws.

Although there is no ambiguity in the language of Article X, even assuming *arguendo*, that there was, the conflicting requirements between these two provisions of the Bylaws require that any such ambiguities be resolved in favor of the POA for purposes of ruling on the Wells’ Rule 56, SCRPC motion. *See Kitchen Planners, LLC v. Friedman*, 440 S.C. 456, 462, 892 S.E.2d 297, 301 (2023) (quoting *Callawassie Island Members Club, Inc. v. Martin*, 437 S.C. 148, 157, 877 S.E.2d 341, 345 (2022)).

⁶ On the contrary, the evidence suggests that the then-secretary, Ron Farrell, did not approve of key aspects of the Easement Agreement, including the provision obligating the POA to pay twenty-five percent of the property taxes for Lot B. (R. pp. 455, 457). In addition to objecting to paying 25% of Lot B’s property taxes, the then-secretary cautioned Matrisciani in a handwritten note: “[b]efore we proceed with signing, I think we need to determine what 25% of the tax is. We also may want to discuss this [with the] POA members.” (R. p. 457). The trial court wrongly declined to acknowledge this evidence in its order finding no genuine issue of material fact as to Matrisciani’s authority.

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