THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
Ninth Judicial Circuit

Honorable Mikell R. Scarborough
Master-in-Equity

Appellate Case No. 2025-001052

SPARTINA BAY PLANTATION PROPERTY OWNERS
ASSOCIATION, INC.,

Appellant,

v.

STEPHEN C. WELLS AND RANDI P. WELLS,

Respondents

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

s/ Timothy J.W. Muller

Timothy J.W. Muller (SC Bar 74601)

Mary Harriet Moore (SC Bar 105312)

ROSEN HAGOOD, LLC

40 Calhoun Street, Suite 450

Charleston, SC 29401

(843) 577-6726 telephone

tmuller@rosenhagood.com

mhmoore@rosenhagood.com

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENTS

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

IV. Respondents are entitled to a damages hearing for reimbursement of the \$2,500 assessment issued by Appellant and paid by Respondents under protest for removal of a deck not owned by Appellant and located on Respondents’ Property.

In its Order, the trial court found that Respondents’ requested reimbursement of an individual assessment in the amount of \$2,500.00 paid to Appellant arising out of Respondents removal of an old deck located on Respondents’ Property shall be subject to a damages hearing by the trial court unless otherwise resolved by the parties. (R. pp. 35). Although not directly challenging the trial court’s determination concerning a future damages hearing, Appellant argues it properly issued a \$2,500.00 assessment to the Respondents because Respondents removed what Appellant contends was a “community deck” located on Respondents’ Property. (Appellant’s Initial Br., pp. 26-27). This same argument was presented by Appellant and rejected by the trial court at the parties’ cross-motions for summary judgment.

Appellant fined Respondents an individual assessment of \$2,500.00, unilaterally claiming without support that the deck was a common area. (R. pp. 54-55, 146-48). Appellants' Deck Assessment Notice asserted that Respondents' failure to pay the individual assessment within thirty days would result in Appellant's imposition of additional late charges against Respondents and the loss of Respondents' status as members in good standing of the SBPOA, which under the Declaration would amount to Respondents' complete loss of all membership rights and benefits in the Association, including the rights to vote and access to community areas, and conceivably under Appellant's position, to include even the use of community property. (*Id.*)

As detailed above, Appellant's rights to the easement area are limited to ingress and egress only. As such, Appellant has never had a right to build or own a stationary structure within the easement area that is not within Appellant's defined and limited easement scope of ingress/egress, whether under the Easement Agreement or any prior instrument identifying the ingress/egress easement area, including the Lease. Further, Appellant failed to submit evidence of a document or any other evidence providing Appellant with such rights. Appellant contends the assessment was proper merely because the Declaration allows it to issue assessments for the cost of maintenance or repair of "common areas." (Appellant's Initial Br., p. 27). This argument fails because the SBPOA has offered no evidence of proof of ownership in the deck as common property.

Appellant conceded its lack of ownership of the deck through its corporate representative, Mr. Evans. (R. pp. 618) ("Q: Did you represent to Ms. Woodruff that this was - - this deck was owned by the property owners association? A: I did not. I couldn't say that with any - - I couldn't say who it was owned by."). Additionally, two former SBPOA presidents testified accordingly. (R. pp. 605) ("Q: Yeah. And you were not aware of the POA ever paying for the construction of

the deck platform located on the Wells' property? A: No. Q: And you're not aware of any bill, sale, deed, or any other document that transferred ownership of the deck platform to the POA? A: No."); (R. pp 627) ("Q: And you're not aware of any bill of sale, deed, or any document that would convey ownership of that deck that used to exist on the Wells' property that was removed to the property owners' association? A: I'm not.). Necessarily, in order to assess fines for common areas, the SBPOA must first own the "common area." The fact that the structure was located on Respondents' Property within the ingress/egress area does not suddenly transfer its ownership to Appellant. In other words, simply being an easement holder of an easement limited in scope to ingress/egress does not equate to fee simple ownership of anything located in the easement area as Appellant incorrectly implies. Here, Appellant has not and cannot provide any evidence that it owns the deck and therefore any assessment against Respondents was improper.

Respondents also did not arbitrarily decide to remove the deck from their Property. DHEC issued a letter to Respondents on July 14, 2022, stating that the deck extended above the critical line and needed to be removed. (R. pp. 668-69). Appellant contends that Respondents had to seek community input before removing the deck from their Property, despite being unable to present any evidence of ownership. Respondents were required by a South Carolina governmental agency to remove the deck, which the SBPOA has no proof of ownership of, or face an enforcement action and civil penalties for failure to comply with DHEC's notice. Respondents were within their rights to remove the deck from their own property and, as a result, the \$2,500.00 assessment by the SBPOA was improper, regardless of the irrelevant recitation of whether the Bylaws authorize Appellant to impose assessments for the repair of common areas. Therefore, the trial court appropriately determined that a damages hearing should be held with respect to amount claimed by Respondents for this improper assessment that was paid under protest to avoid Appellant's

threat in bad faith to revoke all privileges afforded to Respondents under the Declaration. (R. pp. 54-55, 146-48).

V. The trial court correctly ruled that the statute of limitations barred Appellant's counterclaim.

Pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 15-3-340, “[n]o action for the recovery of real property or for the recovery of the possession of real property may be maintained unless it appears that plaintiff, his ancestor, predecessor, or grantor was seized or possessed of the premises within ten years before the commencement of the action.” This action was filed on October 26, 2022, two years after Respondents purchased the property and following their respectful and unsuccessful requested compliance with the Easement Agreement from Appellant. *See* (R. pp. 50-56). The Easement Agreement was recorded on February 22, 2012. *See* (R. pp. 587-94). However, Appellant filed its counterclaim seeking declaratory judgment in a claim for the recovery of real property on December 30, 2022, nearly eleven years later. *See* (R. pp. 149-55).

Nevertheless, Appellant contends the trial court erred in ruling that its counterclaim was barred by the statute of limitations because: (1) the statute of limitations does not apply to actions in equity; (2) Appellant could not challenge the validity of the Easement Agreement during Mr. Matrisciani's presidency; and (3) because its counterclaim is essentially the equivalent of an affirmative defense. (Appellant's Initial Br., p. 28). Appellant also inaccurately claims in a footnote that Respondents did not raise the statute of limitations as an affirmative defense in their reply to Appellant's counterclaim. (Appellant's Initial Brief, p. 28, n. 20). Respondents asserted the statute of limitations as an affirmative defense to Appellant's counterclaim in their Amended Reply, which was timely filed under the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure and never contested by Appellant. (R. pp. 159). Accordingly, Appellant's argument concerning waiver of the statute of limitations as to Appellant's counterclaim must be rejected.

i. Appellant's Counterclaim is not an action in equity.

Declaratory judgments are neither legal nor equitable. *Bundy v. Shirley*, 412 S.C. 292, 301, 772 S.E.2d 163, 168 (2015). The standard of review for a declaratory judgment action is, therefore, determined by the nature of the underlying issue. *Id.* In an attempt to avoid the statute of limitations, Appellant posits that its counterclaim is an action in equity and not at law. (Appellant's Initial Br., pp. 28-30). As a preliminary matter, Appellant did not assert this issue to the trial court, and it is therefore not preserved for appellate review. *See* (R. pp. 323-24) (not asserting its counterclaim was action in equity in response to the applicable statute of limitations); *Williams v. Jeffcoat*, 444 S.C. 224, 238, 906 S.E.2d 588, 596 (2024) (issues not preserved for appeal when not raised at summary judgment before the Master-in-Equity).

Appellant now argues that its counterclaim is seeking enforcement of SBPOA's restrictive covenants, rather than acknowledging the precise counterclaim it filed – where it alleged Appellant “is entitled to declaratory judgment declaring the Easement Agreement void and invalid.” (R. pp. 149-55) (emphasis added). Appellant's counterclaim unquestionably sought the determination of the validity of an easement which is an issue of law while the determination of the scope of an easement is an action in equity. *See Gooldy v. Storage Center-Platt Springs, LLC*, 422 S.C. 332, 338, 811 S.E.2d 779, 782 (2018) (“**The question of whether an easement exists is a factual question in an action at law.**”) (emphasis added); *Inlet Harbour v. South Carolina Dep't of Parks, Recreation, and Tourism*, 377 S.C. 86, 91, 659 S.E.2d 151, 154 (2008) (citing *Tupper v. Dorchester County*, 326 S.C. 318, 323, 487 S.E.2d 187, 190 (1997) (“Apart from the issue of an easement's creation, however, the determination of the scope of an easement is an action in equity.”); *Tupper v. Dorchester County*, 326 S.C. 318, 323, 487, S.E.2d 187, 190 (1997) (“The

determination of the existence of an easement is a question of fact in a law action and subject to any evidence standard of review when tried by a judge without a jury.”).

Appellant cites to the case of *Hardy vs. Aiken*, 369 S.C. 160, 631 S.E.2d 539 (2006), for the contention that an action to enforce restrictive covenants may require a court to interpret a contract as an action in equity. (Appellant’s Initial Br., pp. 29). *Hardy* has no bearing on this appeal. In *Hardy*, the subject declaratory judgment claim on appeal involved the extension of restrictive covenants by an amendment. Unlike *Hardy*, the primary nature of both Respondents’ and Appellants declaratory judgment claims is the existence and validity of the subject Easement Agreement and not the enforcement or modification of a restrictive covenant. Therefore, consistent with South Carolina law on the existence and validity of an easement, the trial court correctly ruled that Appellant’s counterclaim was not an action in equity and, therefore, was barred by the statute of limitations.

Regardless, if it found that Appellant preserved this issue for appeal and the trial court incorrectly determined that Appellant’s counterclaim was an action an equity, which is denied, Appellant’s counterclaim should be denied on the grounds of laches. *See Robinson v. Est. of Harris*, 391 S.C. 114, 117, 705 S.E.2d 41, 43 (2011) (an action claiming a deed conveyance was invalid after an unreasonable amount of time where multiple conveyances to other purchases later occurred was barred under the doctrine of laches). As already detailed, Appellant’s unreasonable amount of time in challenging the invalidity of the Easement Agreement, where multiple owners have since conveyed the Property and Respondents justifiably relied on a publicly recorded easement agreement, shows that the doctrine of laches is applicable if Appellant’s counterclaim were deemed an action in equity and likewise dismissed.¹⁰

¹⁰ (R. pp. 161).

ii. The SBPOA could have challenged the Easement Agreement during Mr. Matrisciani's presidency.

Appellant makes the unsubstantiated argument that because Mr. Matrisciani remained president until 2014, no one could challenge the Easement Agreement's validity until Mr. Matrisciani was no longer president. First, the notion that the SBPOA was held hostage to Mr. Matrisciani's decision does not align with the SBPOA Bylaws or South Carolina law. The SBPOA Bylaws provide specific procedures for challenging and/or removing an officer. If, as Appellant contends, Mr. Matrisciani was acting on his own, which is expressly denied and conflicts with the evidence submitted in this case, including the relevant meeting minutes and witness testimony, the SBPOA members could have removed him pursuant to Article VII of the Bylaws which states: "Any officer or agent elected or appointed by the directors may be removed by the directors whenever in their judgment the best interests of the corporation would be served thereby, but such removal shall be without prejudice to the contract rights, if any, of the person so removed." (R. pp. 562). If the SBPOA believed that Mr. Matrisciani "went rogue" and was not properly serving the SBPOA, whether before or after the Easement Agreement was executed, or following any of the announcements of the existence and availability of the recorded Easement Agreement to the SBPOA members, members could have removed Mr. Matrisciani as president and taken immediate action to challenge the Easement Agreement's validity within the statute of limitations, but they did not. Rather, this illusory argument is more likely made solely from the perspective of Appellant's current board, none of whom were members at the time of the Easement Agreement, for the purpose of trying to invalidate a binding Easement Agreement and to expand their access on Respondents' Property to vehicular use. As such, Appellant's argument must fail and the trial court's ruling that Appellant's counterclaim is barred by the statute of limitations should be affirmed.

iii. Appellant's counterclaim is not an affirmative defense and, therefore, the statute of limitations applies.

Finally, Appellant contends that its counterclaim is “effectively no different than an affirmative defense to the Wells’ cause of action, which is not subject to a statute of limitations.” (Appellant’s Initial Br., p. 29). A counterclaim and an affirmative defense are not the same. *See* 61A Am. Jur. 2d Pleading 234 (“Counterclaims and affirmative defenses are separate and distinct terms; a ‘counterclaim’ is a cause of action which seeks affirmative relief, while an ‘affirmative defense’ defeats the plaintiff’s cause of action by denial or confession and avoidance.”). Appellant cannot circumvent an applicable statute of limitations to its claim by seeking the same relief through an affirmative defense.

Appellant is attempting to affirm and alter its rights to the possession of the easement area and divest Respondents of the property rights contained within the Easement Agreement and granted to Respondents as successors-in-interest to the Property and Easement Agreement. Appellant failed to make any attempt to seize the property rights granted Respondents and their predecessors-in-interest in the Easement Agreement or otherwise challenge the Easement Agreement within ten years before the commencement of this action. *See* S.C. CODE ANN. § 15-3-340. Although Appellant contends that there is no difference between its claims and Respondents, this argument must fail. The statute clearly states: “[n]o action for the recovery of real property or for the recovery of the possession of real property may be maintained unless it appears that the plaintiff, his ancestor, predecessor, or grantor *was seized or possessed of the premises within ten years before the commencement of the action.*” S.C. CODE ANN. § 15-3-340 (emphasis added). Respondents and their predecessors-in-interest, unlike the SBPOA, have continuously been “possessed of” the easement area since they purchased their property. On this basis, Respondents easily satisfy the requirements of the statute of limitations, and it does not bar

their claims. On the contrary, the Easement Agreement was executed and recorded more than ten years prior to this action and Appellant has not sought to alter the property rights under the Easement Agreement. As such, under section 15-3-340, any challenge to the Easement Agreement's validity by Appellant through its counterclaim is barred by the statute of limitations and the trial court's decision as to the applicability of Section 15-3-340 should be affirmed.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated herein, the trial court's Order Granting Respondents' Motion for Summary Judgment and Denying Appellant's Motion for Summary Judgment should be affirmed in its entirety.